RECEIVED

Jan 03 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Aiken County

Clifton B. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DENZELL DESHAWN JACKSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-000942

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the trial judge err when he excluded testimony from the alleged victim's mother that the alleged victim's father was not worried about the sudden disappearance of their son where (1) the evidence was relevant to whether the alleged victim was actually dead or had simply fled from justice, (2) the evidence was within the mother's personal knowledge as it was based upon the mother's perceptions of the father, and (3) the evidence was either not hearsay because it was based upon the mother's perceptions or it fell within the state of mind exception to the prohibition against hearsay?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 11, 2019, an Aiken County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder, possession of a weapon during a violent crime, and kidnapping. R. 657-658; R. 660-661; R. 663-664; R. The state, represented by Jacqueline Charbonneau and Ashley Hammack, called the case to trial before the Honorable Clifton Newman and a jury on August 16-20, 2021. R. 1. Appellant was tried jointly with Sha'Kel Dixon. R. 1. Keith Johnson represented Appellant. R. 1. Barry Thompson and William McKellar represented Dixon. R. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 647, ll. 17-25.¹ Judge Newman sentenced Appellant to life without the possibility of parole for murder. R. 652, ll. 14-16; R. 659.² As a result, he did not sentence Appellant on the convictions for kidnapping or the weapon as required under the relevant statutory provisions. R. 662; R. 665.

On August 27, 2021, Appellant served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

¹ The jury also found Sha'Kel Dixon guilty as charged. R. 647, ll. 8-16.

² Judge Newman sentenced Dixon to life without the possibility of parole. R. 656, ll. 21-22.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011) (quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id.; see also State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 340, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 (2013).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The solicitor's entire case against Appellant depended upon the jury believing the state's star witness – Shaniyah Toney.

Derrick "60" Curry was the only child of a relationship between Kenya Bush and Victor Curry. R. 35, ll. 15-20. On April 30, 2019, Derrick was twenty-years old and lived at home with his mother. R. 35, ll. 21-22; R. 36, ll. 2-5. According to Ms. Bush, she saw and spoke to Derrick every day. R. 36, ll. 6-10. On April 30, 2019, Ms. Bush left her home at 7 a.m. for her job as a home healthcare worker. R. 36, l. 23 – R. 37, l. 5. Immediately before she left, she popped into Derrick's bedroom to remind him to pull up the carpet in his room so that she could have linoleum installed. R. 37, ll. 6-14. After getting off from work at noon, Ms. Bush called Derrick at 12:30 p.m. and learned he had not yet pulled up his carpet. R. 37, ll. 20-25. She fussed at him for not having completed the task. R. 38, ll. 5-6.

Eventually, Ms. Bush arrived at home only to find Derrick was not there and the carpet was still not removed as she had requested repeatedly. R. 38, ll. 7-16. Ms. Bush called Derrick around 1:30 p.m. R. 38, ll. 7-9. When Ms. Bush confronted him with his failure to perform the one task she had requested, Derrick said he would "be right back ... he's coming home." R. 38, ll. 21-24. He also informed her that he was "going to meet Shaniyah." R. 38, l. 24.

Between 3 and 4 p.m., Ms. Bush began receiving phone calls saying Derrick was dead. R. 39, ll. 13-20. Initially, she "wait[ed] around for a little while" after getting these calls. R. 39, ll. 21-22. However, when "the phone calls just kept flooding in," she went to the police department. R. 39, ll. 22-24. During this time, Ms. Bush was calling and sending text messages to Derrick's phone, but she received no response. R. 40, ll. 3-6. After leaving the police station, Ms. Bush found Shaniyah Toney on Facebook. R. 40, ll. 11-13. Ms. Bush "started calling her through

Messenger” and the two sent text messages back and forth. R. 40, ll. 14-15. Shaniyah told Ms. Bush that Derrick had her car, and she would tell Derrick to call Ms. Bush when he picked her up from work. R. 40, ll. 16-19. However, Ms. Bush never received that call. R. 40, ll. 20-21. Instead, Shaniyah told Ms. Bush that Derrick was mad at Ms. Bush because she had told Shaniyah to tell him to call her. R. 41, ll. 8-10. Furthermore, Shaniyah claimed to Ms. Bush that she had dropped off Derrick at two different locations, which aroused Ms. Bush’s suspicions. R. 41, ll. 8-15.

Shaniyah then left town. R. 141, ll. 16-18. Days later, Shaniyah’s lawyer contacted law enforcement with a story to tell. R. 141, ll. 22-24; R. 180, ll. 19-24; R. 193, l. 24 – R. 194, l. 14; R. 307, ll. 8-16.

Shaniyah claimed that on April 30, 2019, she woke up to Appellant sending her text messages to go to his home. R. 78, ll. 11-23. When she arrived at Appellant’s home, she saw Sha’Kel Dixon, Christian Barnwell, and someone nicknamed Tiga. R. 82, ll. 2-16. According to Shaniyah, Appellant entered the passenger side of her car with a small black handgun. R. 83, ll. 3-25. Allegedly, Appellant laid out a plan for Shaniyah to pick up Derrick, take him to her house, where she would pretend to want to have sex with him, and then Appellant and Dixon would “walk in and beat him up.” R. 84, l. 8 – R. 85, l. 6.

Appellant got out of Shaniyah’s car and returned a few moments later with Dixon. R. 85, ll. 21-24. Dixon also had a gun with him. R. 86, ll. 10-11. By this point, Shaniyah had already contacted Derrick. R. 86, ll. 21-22. She drove Appellant and Dixon to her house where she dropped them off in her garage. R. 87, ll. 11-21. Shaniyah then picked up Derrick from McDonald’s. R. 87, l. 22 – R. 88, l. 7.

Derrick entered the driver’s side of Shaniyah’s car with a book bag, cell phone, and a big, long gun. R. 92, l. 15 – R. 93, l. 23. Derrick then drove to Shaniyah’s house. R. 94, ll. 1-7. The

two went to her bedroom where they started “kissing and touching.” R. 102, ll. 8-17. Derrick went to the bathroom to put on a condom. R. 102, ll. 17-18. While Derrick was in the bathroom, Shaniyah walked to her sister’s room for a hairpin. R. 103, ll. 15-17. She claimed she saw Appellant and Dixon in her sister’s closet then. R. 103, ll. 18-22. Appellant and Derrick started to get sexual, but “for some reason, [she] just couldn’t have sex with him.” R. 104, ll. 6-9. After telling Derrick of her feelings, she got off the bed and began getting ready to go to work. R. 104, ll. 10-15.

The bedroom door then opened. R. 105, ll. 7-8. Appellant and Dixon were standing at the door. R. 105, l. 8. According to Shaniyah, Appellant shot Derrick in the eye. R. 105, ll. 8-9. Appellant fired a second time, but this bullet went into the wall. R. 106, l. 23 – R. 107, l. 3. Appellant and Dixon then placed Derrick in a plastic tote. R. 108, l. 16 – R. 109, l. 15. Shaniyah also claimed the two placed her bedding in a trash bag. R. 109, ll. 19-23. Thereafter, Dixon and Appellant placed the tote and trash bag in the trunk of Shaniyah’s car. R. 112, ll. 6-13. The three drove to meet Christian Barnwell and another man. R. 112, ll. 19-23.

Appellant and Dixon opened the trunk of Shaniyah’s car. R. 116, ll. 21-25. The four men then moved the tote and trash bag to Barnwell’s car. R. 118, ll. 3-16. Appellant, Dixon, and Shaniyah then went to Appellant’s house for cleaning supplies. R. 120, ll. 6-19. After getting the cleaning supplies, the three went to Shaniyah’s house where they cleaned her bedroom. R. 121, l. 11 – R. 123, l. 17. Thereafter, they went to the home of Barnwell’s mother. R. 125, ll. 16-21. After staying there for approximately ten minutes, Appellant and Dixon drove Shaniyah to her job at IHOP. R. 127, ll. 18-19; R. 128, ll. 9-17.

Around midnight, Appellant and Dixon picked up Shaniyah from IHOP. R. 130, ll. 11-25. Again, the group went to the home of Barnwell’s mother. R. 131, ll. 6-7. Shaniyah claimed

Appellant cleaned her car and placed items into a fire burning outside. R. 131, ll. 8-12; R. 132, ll. 1-22; R. 134, ll. 4-6. Shaniyah – alone – left in her car. R. 140, ll. 3-7. She drove as fast as she could to Greenwood, where her child’s father lived. R. 141, ll. 12-18; R. 180, ll. 2-18.

ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred when he excluded testimony from the alleged victim's mother that the alleged victim's father was not worried about the sudden disappearance of their son where (1) the evidence was relevant to whether the alleged victim was actually dead or had simply fled from justice, (2) the evidence was within the mother's personal knowledge as it was based upon the mother's perceptions of the father, and (3) the evidence was either not hearsay because it was based upon the mother's perceptions or it fell within the state of mind exception to the prohibition against hearsay.

Relevant facts

Although the police never found a body that was identified as Derrick "60" Curry, the solicitor was undeterred and charged Appellant with murder based on the word of Shaniyah Toney. R. 17, ll. 9-13; R. 355, ll. 2-4. Thus, it was necessary for the solicitor prove Derrick was killed with evidence other than evidence typically collected from a body. To this end, the solicitor called Derrick's girlfriend, Cordajiah Council, as a witness, who said she last spoke to Derrick on April 30, 2019, when the two made plans to see each other later that day. R. 58, ll. 1-13. Also, Derrick gave her no indication that he intended to leave town. R. 60, ll. 12-14.

Yet, Derrick was highly motivated to simply vanish. At the time of his disappearance, Derrick was charged with armed robbery. R. 53, ll. 19-21; R. 378, ll. 1-6. In fact, the warrant remained active even at the time of Appellant's trial. R. 378, ll. 7-10. Despite this very serious criminal charge hanging over his head, Derrick had not shared this information with the two most important people in his life – his mother and his girlfriend. R. 53, ll. 19-21; R. 65, ll. 14-18.

To counter the evidence that Derrick fled the area due to his pending criminal charge, the solicitor presented testimony from law enforcement witnesses that there was no sign of Derrick in

a local hospital, no indication Derrick used any credit or debit cards, and no activity for Derrick in multiple databases, such as license plate reader databases and insurance claim databases. R. 303, l. 23 – R. 304, l. 1; R. 342, ll. 8-16; R. 499, l. 2 – R. 500, l. 7. However, the evidence presented by law enforcement to support Derrick’s death was of limited value because it was undisputed that Derrick did not own a car and had no bank accounts or credit cards. R. 39, ll. 4-5; R. 91, ll. 2-3; R. 381, l. 8 – R. 382, l. 5. Therefore, it was absolutely necessary for the solicitor to present other evidence to strengthen its allegation that Derrick was dead as opposed to having simply left on his own accord. For this absolutely necessary evidence, the solicitor turned to Derrick’s mother, Kenya Bush.

Ms. Bush told the jury that after April 30, 2019, she never heard from Derrick again. R. 41, ll. 22-24. Ms. Bush had no indication that he was leaving. R. 42, ll. 1-2. None of his friends or family had mentioned any contact with Derrick. R. 42, ll. 3-5. In fact, Ms. Bush had no “indication in any forum whatsoever that [Derrick was] alive.” R. 42, ll. 6-8.

When Ms. Bush went to file a missing person’s report on April 30, Derrick’s father asked if she had a life insurance policy for Derrick. R. 52, ll. 1-6. When she confirmed that she did, he asked for the insurance money. R. 52, ll. 6-7. She refused his request. R. 52, ll. 6-7. Ms. Bush insisted this was not an odd question from Derrick’s father because they “already knew [Derrick] was deceased” when she went to the police, and Derrick’s father wanted to make sure they had enough money to bury him. R. 52, ll. 8-16.

Thereafter, defense counsel asked Ms. Bush if she told the police that Derrick’s father was not worried about Derrick. R. 52, l. 21. The solicitor objected that the answer was not relevant, beyond the witness’s personal knowledge, and hearsay. R. 52, l. 22 – R. 53, l. 10. Defense counsel argued Ms. Bush’s response would be “based on her own senses and her own observations.” R.

53, ll. 4-8. Furthermore, defense counsel argued the answer concerned the police investigation. R. 53, ll. 7-8. Nevertheless, the judge sustained the solicitor's objection. R. 53, l. 18. The jury never learned that Derrick's own father was not worried about his sudden disappearance.

Discussion

The trial judge erred in denying the jury the opportunity to consider evidence that Derrick's father was not worried about Derrick because (1) the evidence was relevant to the jury's consideration of whether Derrick was actually dead or was simply a fugitive from justice, (2) the evidence was within the personal knowledge of Ms. Bush as it was based upon her perceptions of Victor Curry, and (3) the evidence was not hearsay as defense counsel did not ask Ms. Bush to testify regarding information received from another source, or if it were hearsay, then it fell within the state-of-mind exception.

Relevance

Pursuant to the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, all relevant evidence is generally admissible. Rule 402, SCRE. "Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible." *Id.* "Relevant evidence' means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." Rule 401, SCRE. "Under Rule 401, evidence is relevant if it has a direct bearing upon and tends to establish or make more or less probable the matter in controversy." *State v. Preslar*, 364 S.C. 466, 476, 613 S.E.2d 381, 386 (Ct. App. 2005). "Evidence is relevant if it tends to establish or make more or less probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly bears, and it is not required that the inference sought should necessarily follow from the fact proved." *State v. Sweat*, 362 S.C. 117, 126-127, 606 S.E.2d 508, 513 (Ct. App. 2004).

Here, the state charged Appellant with the killing of Derrick Curry with malice aforethought. Thus, it was necessary for the state to prove that Derrick was in fact dead. However, the police never found Derrick's body, which complicated the state's ability to prove he was actually dead. In other "no body" cases, the state has proven "the corpus delicti of murder or that the victim is dead by the criminal act of another" by showing "the victim's sudden disappearance, considered with the unlikelihood of his voluntary departure as shown by his personal habits and relationships." See State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 293, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006) (commenting upon the evidence offered in State v. Owens, 293 S.C. 161, 359 S.E.2d 275 (1987)). The solicitor sought to do the same here through the presentation of testimony from Derrick's mother and girlfriend as well as law enforcement testimony concerning public records searches.

Therefore, one of the primary issues for the jury to decide was whether Derrick Curry was even dead. The fact that Derrick's father was not worried about him when his mother reported him as missing to the police was relevant to the jury's consideration of whether Derrick was dead. The solicitor presented evidence that Derrick's disappearance was not voluntary through the testimony of his mother, his girlfriend, and the police, but the defense introduced powerful evidence to show that Derrick's departure was voluntary – he was fleeing justice due to the active warrant for his arrest in connection with an armed robbery. Testimony from Derrick's mother that his father was not worried about his disappearance would have corroborated the defense theory that Derrick was a fugitive from justice. Thus, the evidence had a tendency to make it less probable that Derrick was dead, a necessary element of the murder charge lodged against Appellant.

Personal knowledge

“A witness may not testify to a matter unless evidence is introduced sufficient to support a finding that the witness has personal knowledge of the matter.” Rule 602, SCRE. “Evidence to prove personal knowledge may, but need not, consist of the witness’ own testimony.” *Id.* Furthermore, if a “witness is not testifying as an expert, the witness’ testimony in the form of opinions or inferences is limited to those opinions or inferences which (a) are rationally based on the perception of the witness, (b) are helpful to a clear understanding of the witness’ testimony or the determination of a fact in issue, and (c) do not require special knowledge, skill, experience or training.” Rule 701, SCRE. In other words, “[m]ost witnesses may not testify about things outside their first-hand knowledge.” State v. Gibbs, 431 S.C. 313, 320, 847 S.E.2d 495, 499 (Ct. App. 2020).

The Supreme Court held a police officer’s testimony in which he drew conclusions and speculated as to the cause of an accident was improper opinion testimony. State v. Kelly, 285 S.C. 373, 374, 329 S.E.2d 442, 443 (1985). The officer, who was not qualified as an expert, “drew conclusions from his direct observations, and speculated as to the cause of the accident.” *Id.* The Court made clear that “[a] police officer may not give his opinions as to the cause of an accident.” *Id.* In fact, an officer “may only testify regarding his direct observations unless he is qualified as an expert.” *Id.* The Court held the officer’s testimony regarding his conclusions about the cause of the accident were improper. *Id.* See also Fowler v. Nationwide Mutual Fire Ins. Co., 410 S.C. 403, 410, 764 S.E.2d 249, 252 (Ct. App. 2014) (holding a fire chief’s testimony as to the origin of a fire was improperly admitted because the fire chief was not qualified as an expert).

This Court addressed whether a police officer’s testimony regarding the functioning of single and double action revolvers was outside the officer’s personal knowledge. State v. Gibbs,

431 S.C. 313, 321, 847 S.E.2d 495, 498 (Ct. App. 2020). The officer testified that he was familiar with single action and double action revolvers. Id. at 319, 847 S.E.2d at 498. Over objection, the officer testified that in order to fire a single action gun, the operator would need to cock it and pull the trigger. Id. To fire a double action, one need only pull the trigger, but the trigger pull was heavy. Id. The solicitor used the officer's testimony in closing to rebut Gibbs' claim that the gun fired accidentally. Id.

This Court observed that the testimony at issue "concern[ed] the basic function of certain firearms." Id. at 321, 847 S.E.2d at 499. Further, this Court acknowledged that the "subject matter may have been foreign to some members of the jury." Id. However, the officer "testified he was personally familiar with single action revolvers, double action revolvers, and with the difference between them." Id. According to this Court, "[t]he key feature of lay testimony is the witness's personal knowledge, not whether the subject of the testimony is beyond the jury's ordinary experience." Id. The officer "directly stated this testimony was based on his own knowledge." Id. at 322, 847 S.E.2d at 499. This Court concluded the officer "never offered anything resembling an opinion as to who may have pulled the revolver's trigger or what caused the revolver to fire." Id. This Court determined the testimony was "nothing more than the most rudimentary explanation of how someone discharges a revolver." Id. Therefore, this Court held it was admissible lay testimony. Id.

The South Carolina Supreme Court addressed a similar issue when an officer testified beyond the scope of his expertise. State v. Ellis, 345 S.C. 175, 547 S.E.2d 490 (2001). A police officer testified that in his opinion, the deceased was "astride the bike when shot." Id. at 177, 547 S.E.2d at 491. The officer was qualified as an expert in crime scene process and fingerprint identification. Id. "As such, he was qualified to testify, as he did, to measurements taken at the

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