**RECEIVED**

**Jan 03 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY  
Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2021-000942

THE STATE, .....RESPONDENT

v.

DENZELL DESHAWN JACKSON, .....APPELLANT.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 4806

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

HONORABLE BILL WEEKS  
Solicitor, Second Judicial Circuit

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

Dixon's and Jackson's phones are then in the area of Jackson's residence at 5:31 and 5:34 pm., respectively. Their phones are thereafter "west of the Savannah River site and [Jackson's residence]" at 6:24 and 6:25 pm., respectively. They are each in this same area five minutes later. By 6:38 pm., however, Dixon's phone is in the vicinity of Jackson's residence, and Jackson's phone is in the same area at 6:42 pm. All three phones are in the same area several minutes later.

Both Dixon's and Derrick's phones are between the Jackson and Barnwell residences at 7:30 pm. **R. 528-31.**

At 8:44 pm., Jackson's and Dixon's phones are west of Jackson's residence and "just north of the Savannah River site." At 8:57 pm., Dixon's phone is "[j]ust north of the Savannah River site and west of [Jackson's residence]." Derrick's phone is in the same area at 9:02 pm. By 11:33 pm., Dixon's phone is in the vicinity of Tony's residence. However, his phone is in the area covering Barnwell's residence at 11:34 pm., and Jackson's phone is in this area one minute later. **R. 531-32.**

Agent Chad Smith is a firearms and tool mark examiner in the firearms department of SLED's forensic services laboratory. In connection with this case, he received the fired bullet recovered from Toney's bedroom (State's Ex. 22) and the "Generation 5 Model 19" Glock 9 mm. Luger pistol and magazine (State's Ex. 107) found under Jackson's bed. The fired bullet "was dented and kind of misshapen but it was mostly [intact]," and based on its weight, the diameter at its base and other characteristics, Agent Smith opined that was "most consistent with being loaded into ... a 9-millimeter Luger cartridge." Based on its lands and grooves, Agent Smith further opined that it was consistent with having been fired by a newer model Glock, such as State's Ex. 107, or a similar newer model Glock. **R. 427; 429-31; 436-41.**

Special Agent Alexandra Schelble is the "missing persons coordinator and the statewide alerts coordinator" at SLED. She "assist[s] local, federal, and state law enforcement with missing person investigations." Her job allows her to access information from all 46 counties in South Carolina, information from other states, and information from the federal government. She assisted Aiken County in attempting to locate Derrick Curry, by looking for records reflecting activity beginning on April 30, 2019. In searching for Derrick, she accessed utility, licensing,

credit, DMV, insurance claims, and NCIC databases, as well as police reports, border patrol, and flight records. However, she did not find any activity suggesting that he was still alive. *R. 403-11.*

Agent Schelble also conducted an “offline query” from the FBI, which reflected that the only American law enforcement agencies that had run Derrick’s name and other identifying information were doing so for investigative purposes and not for any other reason. A check of the NCIC database, which includes a link to an individual’s fingerprints and aliases, did not reflect any activity relating to him. The same was true of her offline query of the database. So, she was unable to locate any trace of Derrick. *R. 411-15.*

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Ordinarily, the conduct of a trial, including the admission of proffered evidence, is largely within the sound discretion of the trial judge. His exercise of discretion will not be disturbed on appeal unless it can be shown he committed legal error in the exercise of discretion and the rights of the appellant were thereby prejudiced. *State v. Gregory*, 198 S.C. 98, 16 S.E.2d 532 (1941).

*State v. Nathari*, 303 S.C. 188, 193, 399 S.E.2d 597, 601 (Ct. App. 1990) (1996).

#### ARGUMENT

**The trial judge properly excluded testimony from the victim’s mother, Kenya Bush, that his father “was not worried about” the victim’s disappearance because this testimony was irrelevant to any issue in the case, Ms. Bush lacked personal knowledge of how his father felt about his disappearance, and any information she had about how the father felt was hearsay. Further, many of Jackson’s arguments raised on appeal are procedurally defaulted because they were not presented to the trial judge.**

Notwithstanding Jackson’s attacks upon the trial judge’s ruling, Respondent submits that the trial judge properly excluded testimony from the victim’s mother, Kenya Bush, that his father “was not worried about” the victim’s disappearance because this testimony was irrelevant to any issue in the case, Ms. Bush lacked personal knowledge of how his father felt about his disappearance, and any information she had about how the father felt was hearsay. Further, many

of his arguments raised on appeal are procedurally defaulted because they were not presented to the trial judge.

**A. How the issue arose, and the trial judge’s ruling.**

On Jackson’s cross-examination of Ms. Bush, he asked if she had mentioned Derrick’s father when she spoke to police. She replied that she did not think so. Jackson then established that Derrick’s father had asked her if she had insurance when she was filing a missing person report. She replied, “I told him yes and he said ... could he get insurance and I told him no.” She did not find this conversation odd because they “already knew he was deceased” when she went to the police, and Derrick’s father simply “wanted to make sure we had insurance to bury him.”

*R. 51, line 22 – 52, line 16.*

The State objected when Jackson asked, “Didn’t you tell police that [Derrick’s father] wasn’t worried?” Outside of the jury’s presence, Jackson argued that “this is a statement that she perceived based on her own senses and her own observations and that she actually stated during her interview with the police. And so it’s a fact of their investigation that was supplied to defense counsel. In contrast, the State maintained that the question was “irrelevant,” outside of the witness’ “personal knowledge,” and “hearsay.” After Jackson restated the question, the trial judge sustained the objection. *R. 528, line 17 – 53, line 18.*

**B. Discussion.**

“As a threshold matter, the trial judge must initially determine whether the proffered evidence is relevant as required under Rule 401 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence.” *State v. Clasby*, 385 S.C. 148, 154, 682 S.E.2d 892, 895 (2009) This determination is “within the trial judge’s discretion.” *State v. Gillian*, 373 S.C. 601, 612, 646 S.E.2d 872, 878 (2007). Evidence is only “relevant” if it has a “tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to

the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. Stated differently, evidence “is relevant” if it “assists the jury in arriving at the truth.” *State v. Sweat*, 362 S.C. 117, 126, 606 S.E.2d 508, 513 (Ct.App. 2004). “Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible.” Rule 402, SCRE. Also, lay witnesses generally may not testify about things outside their personal knowledge. See Rule 602, SCRE (“A witness may not testify to a matter unless evidence is introduced sufficient to support a finding that the witness has personal knowledge of the matter”).

Respondent submits that the posited question was irrelevant and called for hearsay because Ms. Bush obviously lacked personal knowledge of whether the victim’s father was not worried about Derrick’s disappearance. See Rule 602, SCRE. Also, the father did not testify at trial, and the record is devoid of any evidence, whatsoever, that he interacted with Derrick on the days leading up to the murder or on April 30, 2019. Similarly, there is no evidence the father was involved in his “disappearance,” directly or indirectly participated in any effort to locate Derrick on April 30-May 1, had any knowledge he was allegedly alive, or even suggested that he was allegedly alive. Rather, the trial transcript reflects that the father’s only involvement was providing a sample of his DNA to law enforcement, so that DNA testing could be performed on evidence collected. *See R. 314-15; 452-53; State’s Ex. 89. See also “Statement of Facts,” supra.*

Jackson asserts that the proffered question was relevant because law enforcement has not found the victim’s body and the excluded “evidence had a tendency to make it less probable that Derrick was dead.” Yet, his argument in this regard is not properly before the Court on appeal because it was not presented to the trial judge. As discussed, he argued at trial that: Ms. Bush’s statement was based on “her own senses and her own observations,” she had given the statement when interviewed by police, and it was part of law enforcement’s “investigation that was

supplied to defense counsel.”

It is well settled that an argument or objection is not preserved for appellate review unless it is first presented to the trial judge. See, e.g., *State v. Dial*, 429 S.C. 128, 132, 838 S.E.2d 501, 503 (2020); *S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C.*, 72 S.C. 295, 301-02, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007) (“There are four basic requirements to preserving issues at trial for appellate review. The issue must have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity”) (internal quotation marks omitted); *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5-6, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (a party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal); *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003) (“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal”); *State v. Prioleau*, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001) (“In order to preserve for review an alleged error in admitting evidence an objection should be sufficiently specific to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so it can be reasonably understood by the trial judge”); *State v. Torrence*, 305 S.C. 45, 60-71, 406 S.E.2d 315, 324-29 (1991) (Toal, J., concurring in result) (abolishing the doctrine of *in favorem vitae* review in capital cases and requiring contemporaneous objection or motion to preserve issue for appellate review); *State v. Vanderbilt*, 287 S.C. 597, 598, 340 S.E.2d 543, 544 (1986) (“Issues not properly preserved at trial may not be raised for the first time on appeal. To the extent that *State v. Griffin*, [129 S.C. 200, 124 S.E. 81 (1924)], may be inconsistent with this result it is overruled”).

The rationale behind the requirement of a contemporaneous objection is to “enable[ ] trial judges to make reasoned decisions by appropriately developing issues by way of argument, both

for or against any particular legal proposition.” *Torrence*, 305 S.C. at 66, 406 S.E.2d at 327 (Toal, J., concurring in result). Thus, his argument in this regard is not properly before the Court on appeal.

Further, none of the reasons proffered at trial for admitting this evidence provide a basis for admitting it. His assertion that this evidence was relevant also ignores that he would be asking jurors to infer - without a scintilla of proof and contrary to eyewitness testimony that was thoroughly corroborated by circumstantial evidence – that the reason his father was not worried was because the victim was alive. However, there are many reasons why his father may have not been worried: he may have had a falling out with the victim, he may have been ashamed that the victim had a pending armed robbery charge, he may not have appreciated the gravity of the victim’s disappearance, he might not be on good terms with Ms. Bush, or he may have simply wanted to irritate Ms. Bush. The jury would thus be called upon to speculate that the reason suggested by Jackson was correct. Likewise, her statement that he appeared uninterested may have been motivated by her displeasure with the father for not doing everything that she felt he should have done, or some previous falling out between the two of them. Thus, the posited question was irrelevant to any issue properly before the jury.<sup>17</sup>

Jackson’s claims the evidence was not hearsay or, alternatively, that it was admissible

---

<sup>17</sup> These same reasons support the conclusion that the proffered evidence cannot survive a Rule 403, SCRE, analysis because even if there was some *de minimis* relevancy, the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighed that relevance. Indeed, admitting this evidence would do nothing more than needlessly inject confusion and send the jury down a rabbit hole of whether and why the victim’s father was, or potentially appeared, indifferent to his son’s disappearance, even though the father did not have any involvement or knowledge of the disappearance until after April 30<sup>th</sup>, and he had an extremely limited role in the case. “Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice ....” *Id.* See also *State v. Collins*, 409 S.C. 524, 536, 763 S.E.2d 22, 28 (2014). Of course, this Court “may affirm any ruling, order, decision[,] or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal.” Rule 220(c), SCACR. So, it may affirm on this basis if it desires to do so.

under an exception to the rule barring hearsay are likewise not properly before the Court because he did not raise these arguments at trial. See *Bailey*, 298 S.C. at 5-6, 377 S.E.2d at 584 (a party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal). The same is true of his suggestion that the testimony was admissible as the opinion of a lay witness under Rule 701, SCRE. Moreover, it is impossible to glean from this record whether her statement to police was based on her observations of the victim's father, or something he said to her: *i.e.*, hearsay that is inadmissible under Rule 802, SCRE. See *TNS Mills, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Rev.*, 331 S.C. 611, 628, 503 S.E.2d 471, 480 (1998) (a failure to make a proffer of what an excluded witness' testimony would have been precludes appellate review). His suggestion that the testimony was admissible under the state of mind exception in Rule 803(3), SCRE, and *State v. Weston*, 367 S.C. 279, 625 S.E.2d 641 (2006), ignores that the father's state of mind was irrelevant for the previously stated reasons.

Similarly, his argument that the testimony was admissible as the opinion of a lay witness under Rule 701, SCRE, fails. Indeed, he acknowledges on p. 12 of his brief that this Court has held that “[m]ost witnesses may not testify about things outside their first-hand knowledge.” *State v. Gibbs*, 431 S.C. 313, 320, 847 S.E.2d 495, 499 (Ct. App. 2020). And, again, Ms. Bush did not have and could not have personal knowledge of whether the victim's father was not worried about Derrick's disappearance. Also, any opinion she may have was irrelevant to any issue properly before the jury.

Finally, Respondent submits that any error in excluding the proffered testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. “Generally, appellate courts will not set aside convictions due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result.” *State Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 212, 631 S.E.2d 266, 267 (2006). Here, there was an eyewitness to the murder, whose account was

circumstantially corroborated by telephone records and, more importantly, by the presence of the victim's blood (shown by DNA testing) in her bedroom and on or inside of the two vehicles the eyewitness claimed had been used to transport the victim's body. Therefore, any error is harmless, since it could not have affected the result of the trial. *Id.* See also *State v. Byers*, 392 S.C. 438, 447, 710 S.E.2d 55, 60 (2011) (“Where ‘guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached,’ an insubstantial error that does not affect the result of the trial is considered harmless”) (quoting *Pagan*, 369 S.C. at 212, 631 S.E.2d at 267); *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 191, 810 S.E.2d 836, 845 (2018) (stating evidence of a defendant's guilt is “overwhelming” when it includes “something conclusive, such as ... DNA evidence demonstrating guilt”); *Hutto v. State*, 387 S.C. 244, 247, 249, 692 S.E.2d 196, 197-98 (2010) (finding the victim's identification of the defendant and evidence of the defendant's DNA at the crime scene constituted overwhelming evidence the defendant was guilty of first-degree criminal sexual conduct, first-degree burglary, and armed robbery).

### CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the judgment, conviction, and sentence of the lower court be affirmed.